RECEIVED

Sep 20 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2021-001007

The Honorable Carmen Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Richard Passio Jr.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South CarolinaRespondent.

PETITIONER’S BRIEF

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
(803) 445-1333
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

Counsel for Petitioner

Other Counsel:

William Blich
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549

Counsel for Respondent

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. The trial court judge erred when she denied trial counsel's motion for a directed verdict because the State did not offer substantial circumstantial evidence. Petitioner was responsible for the death of his wife.

- II. The trial judge erred when she allowed the State to present a Facebook post posted by Petitioner because it was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Richard Passio, Jr. was indicted by the Jasper County grand jury for murder. 2016-GS-27- 00300. He was tried before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury between July 30 - August 2, 2018 in Ridgeland, South Carolina. He was represented by Christopher Geier. The Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office was represented by Hunter Swanson. Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to 30 years in prison.

Petitioner filed a timely appeal which was denied by published opinion. *State v. Richard Passio, Jr.*, 861 S.E.2d 785 (filed August 4, 201). Petitioner then timely filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on August 18, 2021.

Petitioner then filed a petition for a writ of certiorari on October 4, 2021. This Court granted certiorari on August 4, 2022. This Petitioner's brief timely follows.

RELEVANT FACTS

Petitioner, Richard Passio, Jr. was charged and convicted of the murder of his wife and mother of his eight children, Michelle Passio. Michelle battled depression and engaged in significant drug and alcohol abuse. During an argument in their home in the early morning hours of June 3, 2016, Michelle suffered a fatal gunshot wound to her head.

Petitioner, Michelle, and other family members owned, managed, and worked at Jasper's Porch, a small restaurant and bar in Ridgeville, South Carolina.

The State offered the following pertinent testimony at trial: Lt. Joey Ginn with the Ridgeland Police Department testified he responded to the Passio residence in downtown Ridgeville before 6:00am on June 3, 2019. ROA 98.

When Ginn encountered Petitioner he noticed a large amount of blood on him. ROA 100. Petitioner told Ginn his wife shot herself as they were struggling over a gun. ROA 100. Beginning what would be a series of witnesses offering testimony to suggest Petitioner's story of his wife's death was a lie, Ginn said he thought the blood on Richard's pants "appeared dry." ROA 100.

Ginn entered the house with EMS after he placed Petitioner's gun in his car. Petitioner told Ginn the two of them fought over the gun, and three rounds were fired. Ginn testified he smelled decomposition in the house. On cross-examination, Ginn confirmed he did not tell anyone at the time he smelled the "decomposition." ROA 112- 113.

Cpl. Chris McIntosh also testified. He was an investigator with the Ridgeland Police Department and arrived on the scene around 6:00am. ROA 125. A third strike was located through a windowpane in the adjacent room. ROA 128. McIntosh recovered two shell casings from the scene. ROA 129. McIntosh testified that he smelled an odor that he believed was "an early stage of decomposition." ROA 132. He testified Michelle's body was "cold to the touch" and some of

the blood in her right ear had “coagulated.” ROA 133. McIntosh testified he did not see any bruising, scratches, or wounds on Petitioner other than a wound to his right hand. ROA 133-34.

Law enforcement’s investigation of the scene was less-than-thorough. For example, McIntosh did not use any evidence markers at the scene, nor did he generate a crime scene sketch to indicate where evidence was collected. ROA 158. He did not use any trajectory rods to determine from where bullets were fired. ROA 159. McIntosh did not have some of the blood on the couch tested to determine whether it belonged to Michelle or to Petitioner. ROA 161-62. He did not test for any gunshot residue on Petitioner’s hands. ROA 163. Michelle’s hands were checked for gunshot residue, but they were not bagged at the scene. It was McIntosh’s responsibility to do so. ROA 164. McIntosh admitted he did not have any training regarding the amount of time it takes a body to decompose. ROA 174. He also admitted he did not have any training in blood coagulation or blood spatter. ROA 175. He did not interview any of the children who were present at the scene. ROA 177. In all, there were only about 21 pictures of this death scene. ROA 156.

McIntosh did, however, interview two of Petitioner and Michelle’s neighbors, Devan and Kayla. In this interview, they told him they left the Passio house at a particular time on the night of Michelle’s death. McIntosh did not put that information into his written report. He testified his failure to do so was a “typo” or “mistake.” ROA 187- 189. Additionally, Devan and Kayla told McIntosh Michelle was “definitely drunk that night” but he failed to include that in his report either. ROA 190. McIntosh destroyed his interview notes before trial. ROA 195.

In another interview McIntosh conducted, he spoke with Michelle’s first child’s grandparents, Tom and Linda Bennington. In that interview, Tom and Linda told McIntosh they believe Michelle’s mother is a “pathological liar.” ROA 200. That, too, did not make it into

McIntosh's written report. They told McIntosh that "Pam is probably going to blame [Petitioner] for this" and McIntosh did not include that in his report either. In yet another interview, this time with one of the children in the house, McIntosh left out a critical fact related by the child and important to Petitioner's defense—that "it was almost day" when she heard her parents arguing. ROA 203-204.

Ryan Altman, a firefighter and EMT also testified. ROA 210. He testified the decedent was "cold to the touch." ROA 211. He noticed the blood on her and on the floor was "thick and very pliable." ROA 212. He testified Petitioner's hand wound was dry. ROA 212. Altman admitted he is not a hematologist, biologist, or bloodstain expert. He also admitted he could not, with any degree of certainty, say how long it takes the average person's blood to clot outside of the body. ROA 216.

Michael Singleton, a paramedic and firefighter for Jasper County Fire and Rescue testified. He claimed Michelle was "cool and ashen," and her blood appeared to have "coagulated." ROA 221-22. He testified he applied a cardiac monitor to her, and that she "showed asystole, which is a – a workable cardiac rhythm." ROA 223, ll. 20-21. They did not attempt to revive her because, with the head injury, in his opinion her condition was inconsistent with life. ROA 223. Singleton also provided testimony that it was "very uncommon" for women to use firearms to commit suicide, but that claim is demonstrably false.¹

¹ Singleton admitted he did not have any authority for this claim other than what he was taught during his EMT training, but his testimony is belied by widely published and available scientific studies. See MS Kaplan, H McFarland, N Huguet, Characteristics of adult male and female firearm suicide decedents: findings from the National Violent Death Reporting System, Injury Prevention, Volume 15, Issue 5, available at: <https://injuryprevention.bmj.com/content/15/5/322> (last visited 6/27/19) (Firearms used in 31.2% of female suicides according to data from the restricted National Violent Death Reporting System (2003-06) for 25,491 male and female suicides decedents aged 18 and older). And see Violence Policy Center, *Who Dies? A Look at Firearms Death and Injury in America*, Revised Edition,

Dr. Erin Presnell is a forensic pathologist from the Medical University of South Carolina. ROA 234. Despite her credentials and being the only witness qualified to opine as to such things, the solicitor did not ask Presnell about the likelihood of smelling human decomposition when arriving at a scene, or whether blood coagulation is a reliable indicator of when a person dies. Presnell noted Michelle had marijuana metabolite, significant nicotine, caffeine, and a blood alcohol level of 0.07 in her system at the time of her death. ROA 236.² The prosecution did not this medical doctor anything about the possible time of death of the decedent.

The state also presented the testimonies of two DNA experts. They testified the DNA profiles on the gun trigger were from both Petitioner and his wife. ROA 257.

Ivy Bryan was a senior in high school at the time of trial; she was 16 when these events occurred. ROA 261. She was a neighbor of the Passio's. ROA 262. She and her friends were hanging outside by a fire on the night Michelle died. ROA 263. She heard a man and a woman, and she testified she thought the sounds were around 2:30 or 3:00am. She thought she heard 4

*available at: <http://www.vpc.org/studies/whofem.htm> (last visited 6/27/19) (The National Center for Health Statistics reports that for all female victims of suicide, the percentage using firearms to kill themselves went from 30 percent in 1970 to 40 percent in 1996). And see Monaco, Kristen, *Suicide Rate in Women Jumps by 50%*, Medpage Today, June 14, 2018), *available at: <https://www.medpagetoday.com/psychiatry/depression/73485> (last visited 6/27/19) (For women aged 25-44 years old, the most common method of suicide is the use of firearms at 32%, as reported by a study conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics based on data collected from 2000 to 2016).**

² The State's commitment to its theory Petitioner must have murdered his wife hours earlier appears based on the testimony of Ivy Bryan, a 16-year-old who was hanging outside with her friends and who gave two different versions of when she heard shots fired, and Juanita Patrum, a neighbor who claims she did not hear a gunshot when she took her dog for a walk at 5:30am. The State evidently rejected the testimony of Petitioner and Michelle's 11-year-old daughter who claimed she heard the gunshots when it was "almost day" or her 12-year-old brother's testimony that corroborated her account. The State did not ask its own pathologist a single question regarding the time of death of the decedent.

gunshots in all. ROA 264. On cross-examination, she admitted she may have told McIntosh the shots occurred between 1:00-3:00am. ROA 266.

Juanita Patrum, another neighbor of the Passio's also testified. ROA 268- 70. Earlier that night, she and Michelle hung out on her porch and drank beer. She testified she and Michelle made plans for the next day to again sit on her porch and drink more beer. ROA 271. Ms. Patrum testified the next morning she woke up around 4:30 or 5:00am. She took her dog for a walk between 5:30 and 6:00am. She did not hear any gunshots. ROA 271-72. She claimed Petitioner had a cabinet of food that was just for him, and the kids and Michelle were not allowed to get into it. ROA 274-75. This testimony was later contradicted by Petitioner and Michelle's children.

Michelle would leave her cigarettes at Ms. Patrum's house so Petitioner would not throw them away. ROA 275.

Jordan Moser, a bartender at Schooner's Bar and Grill, testified. ROA 282. She got to know Petitioner and Michelle because they would come into the bar after Jasper's Porch closed at night. ROA 282. Michelle was at the bar on the night of June 2, 2016. That night, Michelle came in around 11:00pm. ROA 284. Michelle was supposed to be home at midnight, but she remained at the bar. Petitioner called the bar. He arrived at the bar shortly afterwards. ROA 286. Petitioner and Michelle argued, and Moser saw Petitioner knock a cigarette out of Michelle's hand or mouth. ROA 286. Michelle then left, and Petitioner left shortly afterwards. ROA 286. They were probably at the bar for about 30 minutes. ROA 287. Jordan smoked marijuana with Michelle a couple of times. ROA 289.

Angel Rose, an employee of Jasper's Porch, testified. ROA 291. Rose testified that Michelle "had a lot of issues" and that "she was a little sad." ROA 297. She testified Michelle said she was supposed to be home at midnight. Around 5 minutes until midnight, she ordered

another beer. At midnight, Petitioner called the bar but no one answered. A few minutes later, Petitioner showed up. Michelle told Petitioner she was going to finish her beer, and then she started to light her cigarette. Petitioner knocked it out of her hand. ROA 299. At one point, Rose suggested Michelle seek counseling at Coastal Empire Mental Health. ROA 303.

The State called Brandon Ashcraft to testify. ROA 305. He and Michelle had an affair. ROA 307. When it was over, they remained friends. ROA 308. There were rumors about the two of them, and Petitioner confronted him about it. Ashcraft adamantly denied it to Petitioner. ROA 308. On the night Michelle died, Ashcraft was not working. That night, however, he walked down the street and saw Petitioner sitting on his porch. They had a couple of drinks together. ROA 311. There was a kid named Devan at Petitioner's house, too. ROA 311. Afterward, Ashcraft walked to Schooner's Bar. He was there when Petitioner arrived later. ROA 313. He observed Petitioner knock the cigarette out of Michelle's hand. ROA 313. Ashcraft stayed at the bar talking to a girl until it closed. Once home, Petitioner sent him a text message asking if he had a baby bottle. ROA 314. He did because he had two kids himself, but he testified he thought the request was odd because Petitioner had 8 kids. ROA 314.

When Petitioner arrived at Ashcraft's place, he wanted to know why Ashcraft did not come and speak to him earlier when he was at Schooner's bar. Ashcraft told Petitioner that, ever since those rumors of his affair with Michelle, he wanted to stay "on opposite sides" of Petitioner. Also, he was interested in talking to a young woman named Tori. After that, Petitioner's demeanor changed, and he had a seat on Ashcraft's swing. ROA 318. Then Petitioner said that he hoped "tonight's not the night" and mentioned Michelle killing herself. ROA 318. He took the baby bottle and headed back to his car. ROA 319. Ashcraft confirmed on cross-examination that Michelle was getting help at a mental health center and was speaking to a therapist. ROA 323. Ashcraft had

his affair with Michelle when she was about 6 or 7 months pregnant. ROA 325. He knew she was drinking, smoking marijuana, and smoking cigarettes during her pregnancy. ROA 326.

Marian Mims, a former manager at Jasper's Porch, testified. ROA 330. Mims showed McIntosh where the surveillance cameras were located. ROA 331. A video was introduced into evidence that showed Petitioner removing a plastic case from Jasper's Porch before 1:00am on the date Michelle died. Mims testified that sometimes Michelle was depressed. ROA 336.

Lisa Helbig, a shift leader at Jasper's Porch worked with Michelle, and was called to testify. ROA 341. Helbig said Petitioner told her they moved from Ohio to South Carolina so he could get Michelle away from the drugs and kind of lifestyle she was leading. ROA 344.

Carla Ashcraft, Brandon Ashcraft's mother, testified. ROA 355. Ashcraft had custody of her grandchildren, so she and Michelle bonded over an interest in their children. ROA 357. Ashcraft suggested Michelle speak with Cathy Badgett, a lawyer she used when she got divorced and had custody issues with her grandchildren. ROA 361.

Cathy Badgett, an attorney in Jasper County, testified. ROA 377. She indicated she and Michelle spoke for about an hour on March 2, 2016. According to Badgett, Michelle appeared "very concerned, frightened." ROA 379. She was pregnant at the time. Badgett referred Michelle to Legal Services and to Citizens Opposed to Domestic Abuse. ROA 379.

On the night of her death, Simmons saw Petitioner and Michelle hanging out on the porch and they were fine. ROA 386. She got a call from Petitioner around 1:45 am asking for a baby bottle. She told him she did not have one. ROA 386. She heard Michelle in the background. ROA 386-87. Michelle was a drinker and smoker. ROA 390. She heard rumors that Michelle would smoke marijuana. ROA 390. Simmons admitted she did not hang out with Michelle once little Frankie was born. ROA 390-91.

Michelle's mother, Pam Bennington, testified. ROA 392. She was not supportive of Michelle and Petitioner's relationship. ROA 392. Bennington moved in with Michelle and Petitioner at the end of October 2015 to help them out with the children while they worked at the restaurant. Michelle was pregnant at the time. ROA 393. Bennington testified Michelle wanted a divorce. ROA 398. Frankie was 5-6 weeks old when Bennington went back to Ohio. ROA 399. Bennington testified Michelle would never kill herself because she is a Catholic and believed she would go to hell. ROA 400. Bennington testified on cross-examination she was not always able to care for Michelle while she was growing up. Bennington had brain surgery and "then things fell apart." ROA 403. She did not raise her other two sons either due to her struggles. ROA 403. Bennington testified Michelle told her she was ingesting methamphetamine when she and Petitioner were living in Ohio. ROA 406.

After Bennington's testimony, the State rested its case. ROA 413.

During his motion for a directed verdict, trial counsel argued the shortcomings present in the State's case:

MR. GEIER: Thank you, your Honor. Your Honor, this case is—as I've been sitting here the last day and a half, I don't know that there's any direct evidence at all in this case. It's all circumstantial, which, obviously, it's evidence that can be used to obtain a conviction. However, at the directed verdict stage, there has to be substantial circumstantial evidence. And the circumstantial evidence that's out there has to do more than raise just a suspicion of guilt.

As I see it in this case, we have a couple things that have been put on by the state. Michelle was dead, and Richard was there. And we heard the 911 tape that was entered. And in that tape, he said she shot herself, with my gun. So, I think we have those things.

We've had, you know, that to the gun. Yeah, it was his gun. The state DNA expert said her DNA was on the trigger, as was his.

There was—most of the testimony that came in from any sort of fact witness was that Richard would lose control, which is not, in and of itself, evidence that he murdered Michelle.

There were claims of infidelity. And they had Brandon Ashcraft get up there and say, yes, I was having an affair. They never once presented any evidence that Richard knew. Absolutely none.

And it's the same thing with the claims of divorce. They had Ms. Badgett get up there; they had various family members say, yeah, she was talking about the divorce. Never was there any indication that Richard knew. Absolutely no evidence of either of those two things.

They put on some evidence suggesting that Richard didn't call 911 immediately after Michelle's death. They did that partially through the coagulation of blood. But again, their witness, the EMT, testified that, when they got there, that, yeah, the blood was goopy. But they found a working cardiac rhythm in Michelle, so her heart was still beating when they got there.

They put on Ivy Bryan, he said that it happened at—that she heard shots, four shots, at 1:00 am. There's a question there was only three. She couldn't identify exactly where they came from. She couldn't identify who was arguing that she heard, anything at all about that. No one else came on and said they heard shots around that time, including Juanita Patrum, who was next door.

Juanita said that she heard a shot—or didn't hear anything, including at 5:50 in the morning, when—about the time Richard called 911. But She also said that she wasn't outside the entire time; that she walked the dog; she went inside; fed the cats; got ready; and left. She started walking out as—then, again, pulled up.

Then got a case that they called a gun case, and they've asked all kinds of witnesses, did you see Richard with a gun at Jasper's Porch. Yeah. Did he have a case? Yeah. The case sitting right there, and it is entered into evidence, but not one of them testified that, that was the case. None of them identified that. They didn't ask them to. So, I guess that seems—they seem to be implying that Richard kept his gun at Jasper's Porch, in that case. And then, that morning, at one in the morning, I guess it was, with the timestamp being off, that he went there and retrieved this case. Well, again, nobody said that, that was the case that he ever kept any sort a firearm in.

That's all we got. I mean, we got him going to Jasper's Porch. There was some talk about how he was going to go to Jasper's Porch to get Jagermeister, and that was from Brandon Ashcraft. But there's nothing else about any of that.

We have, sounds like, one claim of some sort of prior difficulties, some sort of physical altercation, between Richard and Michelle. But they don't have anything else, and that evidence came from the decedents mother, who admitted she blamed Richard for it before she heard anything.

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