RECEIVED

Nov 10 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

**Appeal from Jasper County
The Honorable Carmen Mullen, Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD PASSIO, JR.,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2021-001007

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar No. 100851
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HONORABLE ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge’s denial of Petitioner’s motion for a directed verdict of acquittal as to murder because the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence that Petitioner had the motive, means, and opportunity to have killed his wife prior to him calling 911 and reporting that she committed suicide and also that she shot multiple times.

The trial court found that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence pointing to Petitioner’s guilt. (R. p. 428, lines 16-20). The Court of Appeals affirmed, and that decision was proper.

“If there is any direct evidence, or if there is substantial circumstantial evidence, that reasonably tends to prove the defendant’s guilt,” then the court properly submits the case to the jury. *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. 554, 563, 748 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2013). Substantial circumstantial evidence exists when the evidence submitted “reasonably tends to prove” that Petitioner killed the Victim. *Id.* at 555-57, 748 S.E.2d at 271-72. A directed verdict motion should

be denied only “when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty.” *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000).

Circumstantial evidence “gains its strength from its combination with other evidence, and all the circumstantial evidence presented in a case must be considered together to determine whether it is sufficient to submit to the jury.” *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. at 567, 748 S.E.2d at 272. Parsing some of the facts presented, as Petitioner has done, may appear to establish a “speculative inference” of guilt. (Br. of App. at 27). But the State did not present scarce, singular instances of conduct sufficient to raise only a mere suspicion of guilt. *Cf. State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 141-42, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778 (2011) (“No direct evidence linked Bostick to the crime scene or the items found in the burn pile.”); *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004) (fingerprint on cup lid in Victim’s borrowed car, later found short distance from defendant’s father’s home, raised mere suspicion of guilt when Victim’s body was found in separate location); *State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 555 S.E.2d 402 (2001) (while evidence established that defendant walked in the direction where Victim was found, no evidence placed defendant at the scene of the crime and defendant’s house was in the same direction); *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127 (2000) (“The only evidence linking respondent to the burglary is the fingerprint.”); *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1984) (“Nothing in evidence places Schrock at the scene of the crime.”). Here, the State established an operative chain of facts from which the jury could reasonably conclude guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and the trial court did not error in submitting the case to the jury.

The evidence the State presented established motive, means, and opportunity reasonably tending to prove that Petitioner was criminally responsible for the murder of his wife. (R. p. 416, line 17 – p. 428, line 15). Petitioner called 911 and placed himself with the Victim and with his

hands on the gun contemporaneous to the shooting. He told the 911 operator that his wife shot herself, and also that they were arguing. He made it known that their argument got physical, stating that his wife attacked him a few times, knocked his contacts from his eyes, and that he hurt his hand on the bottom of the gun when it went off. (State's Ex. 1). He relayed this information to responding law enforcement and stated that he and his wife struggled over the weapon, and was repeatedly inconsistent about the number of shots fired. (R. p. 98, line 4 – p. 101, line 3; R. p. 105, lines 15-22; R. p. 165, line 6 – p. 167, line 7). Forensic evidence corroborated a physical struggle, as both Petitioner and the Victim left DNA on the trigger of the pistol. (R. p. 257, lines 14-18). And, fingernail scrapings from each of the Victim's hands contained a complex mixture of two persons' DNA. (R. p. 251, lines 16-25). Moreover, the Victim had plans for the days following her death, contrasting Petitioner's assertion that she committed suicide. (R. p. 385, line 22 – p. 386, line 1; R. p. 284, lines 3-6).

Further contrary to Petitioner's report of a suicide were the multiple bullet strikes located in the home. A bullet struck a door frame behind the Victim's head, and another struck a windowpane in the same direction. Yet the Victim was located lying on the sofa with her head back. (R. p. 128, lines 5-25; R. p. 221, lines 16-18). Petitioner reported she fired *into the air*. (State's Ex. 1 at 1:39 to 1:45). Months later, Petitioner, unprovoked, inconsistently told another acquaintance from Jasper's Porch that the Victim shot twice *towards him*, missing him and hitting the wall. (R. p. 352, line 13 – p. 353, line 17). From the evidence of a physical struggle and the stray bullet marks behind the Victim's head, the jury could reasonably conclude the killing occurred at the hands of Petitioner rather than as a result of Victim's personal volition, even in the heat of passion. The jury was instructed they may find Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter if they did not find him guilty of murder beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. p. 713, lines 1-25).

Temporally, it can be fairly and logically deduced from the evidence that Petitioner and the Victim were at home arguing and that the argument culminated with Petitioner killing the Victim. *See State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 97, 747 S.E.2d 444, 451 (2013) (“evaluation of circumstantial evidence requires jurors to find that the proponent of the evidence has connected collateral facts in order to prove the proposition propounded”). The video from Jasper’s Porch places Petitioner at the restaurant after the Passios’ public argument at Schooner’s bar. Their argument at the bar began shortly after midnight and witnesses saw Petitioner and the Victim leave separately. (R. p. 282, line 2 – 286, line 8; R. p. 296, line 10 – p. 300, line 4; R. p. 313, lines 1-25). The bartender testified that she estimated that Petitioner and the Victim left Schooner’s by 12:30 AM. (R. p. 286, line 10 – p. 287, line 2). Petitioner made a quick stop at Jasper’s Porch minutes before 1 AM. (State’s Ex. 6; R. p. 333, line 11 – p. 334, line 18). A neighbor who had been sitting outside most of the night heard arguing and gunshots between 1:00 AM and 3:10 AM—she estimated she actually heard the shots between 2:30 and 3:00 AM. (R. p. 263, line 5 – p. 264, line 25; R. p. 266, lines 3-24). Around 2 AM, Petitioner briefly visited a co-worker to pick up a baby bottle. Petitioner told his co-worker that things were bad at home. Petitioner mentioned suicide, stating that he hoped it was “not the night that something happens” to the Victim. He left by 2:15 AM, which is corroborative to the approximate time Ms. Bryan testified to hearing gunshots (between 2:30 and 3:00 AM). (R. p. 316, line 16 – p. 319, line 14). Petitioner called 911 at 5:53 AM to report the shooting. (R. p. 221, lines 1-8). However, another neighbor who regularly heard fighting at the Passio’s house and who ordinarily woke up between 4:30 and 5:00 AM testified she did not hear gunshots at any point after she woke up that morning. (R. p. 270, line 19 – p. 273, line 20). Therefore, because it undisputed the Petitioner was present at the time of the shooting, the evidence

reasonably tends to prove that the shooting occurred after 2:15 AM when Petitioner arrived home with a borrowed baby bottle and before the neighbor woke up around 4:30 or 5:00 AM.

The State also submitted substantial circumstantial evidence that Petitioner went to the family restaurant in the middle of the night to obtain his gun, and then introduced the murder weapon into the home just hours prior to the shooting. This reasonably, if not strongly, indicates malice aforethought, especially in conjunction with Petitioner's seemingly feigned fear of Victim committing suicide *one hour later*. Video surveillance shows Petitioner entering Jasper's Porch just before 1:00 AM on the same night as the murder and leaving moments later with a black case in his left hand. (State's Ex. 6; R. p. 333, line 11 – p. 334, line 18). Witnesses who worked at Jasper's Porch also testified that Petitioner had previously taken them into the restaurant office and showed them a gun in a black case. The case they described was similar to the black object Petitioner can be seen carrying out of the restaurant. (State's Ex. 6; R. p. 310, line 12 – p. 311, line 4; R. p. 345, lines 1-21; R. p. 351, line 3 – p. 352, line 12). Further, one witness who saw Petitioner leave Schooner's said he believed Petitioner said he was going to Jasper's Porch to retrieve bottles of liquor. (State's Ex. 6; R. p. 314, lines 6-11). Yet the black case in the video is not a box or other ordinary receptacle. Finally on this point, when law enforcement arrived at the Passio's at 6 AM in response to Petitioner's 911 call, they found the gun on the floor next to the Victim and an empty hard-shell case in the back of Petitioner's car. Analysis located only Petitioner's DNA on the handle. (R. p. 103, lines 13-17; R. p. 143, line 6 – p. 144, line 7; R. p. 220, line 22 – p. 221, line 5; R. p. 254, lines 10-22; R. p. 259, lines 11-23).

Moreover, the State presented more than a mere suspicion that Petitioner waited to call 911 and report the shooting, indicating consciousness of guilt. *See State v. McDowell*, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976) (as a general rule, any guilty act or conduct by the accused is

admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt). First responders arrived at the Passio's house to find all eight children and the dog quietly asleep. (R. p. 102, lines 2-24). The injury to Petitioner's hand appeared crusted and dry rather than fresh. (R. p. 212, lines 5-20). The Victim's blood was not dripping from any wound, but rather had soaked into the sofa and had coagulated on her person and on the floor and was thick like Jell-O. (R. p. 133, lines 3-15; R. p. 212, lines 1-3). Something about the scene smelled off. (R. p. 112, lines 8-19, R. p. 133, lines 1-3). The Victim's arm was cold to the paramedic's touch. (R. p. 211, lines 17-21). And the neighbor who regularly awoke between 4:30 and 5:00 AM to get ready for her 6:00 AM work shift did not hear any gunshots that morning, which would have been fairly contemporaneous to Passio's 5:52 AM call to 911. She also saw Petitioner in slacks rather than his usual pajamas and was home to see the police arrive. (R. p. 221, lines 1-8; R. p. 270, line 16 – p. 273, line 15).

Petitioner argues that these facts are “pseudo-science”.¹¹ But in truth, these facts are just the repeatedly consistent observations of multiple first-responders at the scene of the crime, just minutes after the 911 call was placed. These are factual matters for which the witnesses had every right to testify to, and these factual matters contribute circumstantial evidence that this was not a six minute old shooting.

¹¹ Respondent also objects to Petitioner's reference and reliance upon journals and websites for supplemental factual matters when such materials were not introduced at trial. Such constitutes an improper expansion of the record, and such materials cannot now be considered on appeal. See Rule 210, SCACR (“The Record shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal.”); Cf. Rule 212, SCACR (“The appellate court may require copies of all or any part of the transcript of proceedings or other matter which was before the lower court or administrative tribunal to be sent up for its inspection and consideration.”).

Additional evidence reasonably tended to prove malice aforethought. Testimony established a number of possible motives, including the Victim's plans to divorce Petitioner, the Victim's prior infidelity, and Petitioner's expression to others that he believed the Victim "wasn't acting right; she was lashing out." (R. p. 382, line 1 – p. 385, line 24). A number of State's witnesses testified that they had witnessed Petitioner act in an argumentative, controlling, or violent fashion with the Victim. (R. p. 341, line 15 – p. 345, line 21; R. p. 396, line 8 – p. 397, line 20). Their dual presence at Jasper's Porch caused tension. (R. p. 292, line 22 – p. 294, line 10; R. p. 309, line 1 – p. 310, line 1; R. p. 330, lines 5-25). Outside of work, by at least one witness account, the Victim acted to conceal her whereabouts from Petitioner, who was "degrading and abusive" of her. (R. p. 354, line 2 – p. 361 line 15). The Victim had recently met with a family court attorney who testified that she planned to divorce Petitioner. The attorney described the Victim as pregnant, concerned, and frightened, and she referred the Victim to a local shelter for Victims of domestic abuse. (R. p. 378, line 4 – p. 380, line 24). Victim's mother corroborated the late wife's plans to leave Petitioner once she set aside enough money. (R. p. 398, line 12 – p. 399, line 20). The State also presented direct testimony that the Victim had an affair with another restaurant employee and that Petitioner was at least aware of the rumors, if not the actual affair, as he confronted that employee about it and thereafter put surveillance cameras around their workplace. (R. p. 307, line 1 – p. 309, line 8).

Respondent submits the fact-driven inquiry of this issue requires affirmance of the trial court. Unlike other cases where our appellate courts have corrected the trial court's failure to direct a verdict, Petitioner places himself at the scene, in a physical struggle with the Victim, with his hands on the murder weapon, and witness to the shooting. There was additional evidence that Petitioner brought the gun into the home mere hours before Victim's death and waited some time after the shooting to call 911. *State v. Lynch*, 412 S.C. 156, 173-74, 771 S.E.2d 346, 355-56 (Ct.

App. 2015) (case properly submitted to jury on substantial circumstantial evidence where defendant was the last person seen with Victim at location of murder and State presented substantial evidence of flight); *State v. Bratschi*, 413 S.C. 97, 112-14, 775 S.E.2d 39, 47-48 (Ct. App. 2015) (substantial circumstantial evidence established by prior violent confrontation between Victim and defendant; defendant getting a ride from a location near where the Victim's vehicle was found with Victim's dated blood on the steering wheel; and by grave-like hole on defendant's family land). In *State v. Frazier*, 386 S.C. 526, 689 S.E.2d 610 (2010), the Court ruled that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt with evidence of the following: an affair between the Victim's wife and the defendant, defendant's knowledge of Victim's whereabouts, defendant's confrontation with the Victim shortly before the murder, defendant's actions taken in preparation for the murder, and eyewitness testimony placing defendant near the murder scene at the time of the murder. *Frazier*, 386 S.C. at 531-32, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613. Respondent submits that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of the same caliber as the evidence presented in *Frazier*, and Respondent asks the Court to likewise find that "[t]his evidence, when viewed collectively, presented a jury question. . ." as to Petitioner's guilt. *Id.* at 532, 689 S.E.2d at 613.

II.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's admission of a screenshot of Petitioner's Facebook profile because it was used to impeach Petitioner's father's testimony and show his bias.

During Richard Sr.'s cross-examination and over Petitioner's objection, the trial court admitted a screenshot of Petitioner's Facebook profile page. The screenshot showed a selfie by Petitioner and another photograph of Petitioner with two of his sons. Petitioner's name, Rock Passio, appears underneath these photographs, and then the following: "I know who I am. I'm a

dude, playing a dude, disguised as another dude.” (R. p. 577, lines 16-25; R. p. 737). Petitioner objected on the basis of relevance and authentication. (R. p. 577, lines 16-20).

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